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DIRECTORS REPORT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Directors report for the year 2018 for your review.

Brief History and Achievements:

Since 2015, Unikai has under gone a period of turnaround and transformation. The Company took
several initiatives to vastly improve the operational and financial performance of the company. Various
initiatives taken by the Board, for the last 3 to 4 years, have resulted in enhancing the brand value for
Unikai products and have increased the presence and market share of Unikai across Modern Trade and
Traditional Trade channeis in the region. Your Board has made the above achievements and supported
the growth of the business organically and through internal resources of Unikai and without seeking
any funding or cash-flow requirements from the shareholders.

Below are broad highlights of the achievements:-

a) Delivered three consecutive profitable years 2015 — 2017;

b) Paid dividends in 2016-2017 to the shareholders for the first time since 2011;

¢) Won Sheikh Khalifa Excellence Award Silver Category in manufacturing segment;

d) Launched new products, Improved Quality and Packaging of existing products

e) Increased customer Universe by 5,000 customers, including flag ship customers such as
Emirates Airlines, EKFC, Etihad Airlines, Biman Airlines. Adnoc, Emarat, LULU and Carrefour ;

f) Entered 14 new markets iike Bahrain, Pakistan and African countries.

2018 an unprecedented challenging vear:
Year 2018, has unfolded to be an unprecedented challenging year for the FMCG industry and Unikai as

well. The regional economic slowdown, geo political risks, unpredictable impact of new taxation
legislations i.e. VAT and Excise, created uncertainty and weak market sentiments. Due to precarious
regional political situatior, major GZC based FMCG competitors started dumping their products in UAE
at un-profitable prices. Hence, the limited shelf space resulted in fierce market competition to secure
the existing shelf space and protect market share. To achieve this objective the competitors offered
major trade discounts and launched unprofitable promotions across Key accounts, Modern Trade,
traditional trade and HORECA trade channels. The consumer preferences sharply shifted to more
affordable and economical purchasing patterns. However Unikai remained determined to protect and
grow market share and in order to achieve this, Unikai had to match the trade discounts offered by its
competitors. These discounts, together with overall slow business during the year, casted a negative
impact on Unikai’s revenue and net margins. Hence, Unikai suffered a net loss of AED 20.3 million.
However, Unikai has successfully been able to retain its market share and avoided a de-growth in Gross
revenue and market share.
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Profitability Revitalization measures:

The management of Unikai has reacted swiftly and in a timely manner to address the market
adversities by clearly devising an effective business strategy and a detailed profitability enhancement
plan for Years 2019 to 2022.

We have prioritized our preferences and focus on following fundamental strategic objectives:-

1. Deliver sustainable revenue stream, compatible with evolving market dynamics
2. Generate continuous healthy net profits derived from sustainable revenue stream

We have aligned our resources in enhancing sales of categories which yielded higher profit margins.
The specific focus on improving the sales contribution margin mix and cost reduction measures shall
deliver better results in the coming future.

We have taken following strategic steps which will ensure sustainable revenues and profit margins in
2019 and for the coming years (2019 to 2022):-

i Selling Price adjustment of our products and deliver profitable sales volume growth by
selling high margin category wise products ,rationalizing trade discounts, overheads, selling,
distribution and admin costs;

ii. Rationalization of sales routes to achieve route profitability;

iii. Production capacity enhancement:

iv. Reducing operations cost and Inventory optimization, Upgrading the manufacturing
infrastructure to garner efficiencies;
V. Retirement of bank ioans through company’s Cash flows and efficient utilization of

Financing lines, improving liquidity by increasing debts collection and strengthening
Working Capital;

vi. Assessing and revaluing the true potential of assets in compliance with IFRS, Improving
distribution capabilities by establishing new warehousing facilities in RAK and Oman.

vii. Establishing a cost effective HR function ensuring development and rationalization of
human capital

viii. Upgrading IT Infrastructure including business application, hardware and software upgrade.

Above strategic measures will result in sales growth ,reduction in selling and distribution cost, achieve
incremental profits due to selling price increases, increase in customer universe, enhanced production
capacity and reduction in labor costs.
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Conclusion:

We are confident with the adoption and delivery of above mentioned strategic plan for 2019 to 2022;
we will achieve sustainable, consistent and realistic sales growth and return to healthy net profits in
2019. We shall continue to sublimate our efforts in growing market share, enhancing goodwill of
UNIKAI brand value in the region and attain the status of preferred and adored life style food and
beverage manufacturing and distribution company among consumers.

Sincerely,

Khalaf Mohamed Saeed alMulla
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Chairman of the Board
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KPMG Lower Gulf Limited

Level 13, Boulevard Plaza Tower One

Mohammed Bin Rashid Boulevard, Downtown Dubai, UAE
Tel. +971 (4) 403 0300, Fax +971 (4) 330 1515

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.)
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.)
(“the Company”) and its subsidiary (“the Group"), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, cash
flows and changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes, comprising
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the
United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
the most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

Valuation of inventories

Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.)
Independent Auditors’ Report
31 December 2018

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Refer to note 13 of the consolidated financial statements

Valuation of inventories is a key
audit matter due to:

e The size of the balance
(being 17% of the total
assets of the Group).

e A significant portion of the
inventories has a relatively
short shelf life and is
exposed to expiration.

e The level of judgment
required by us in evaluating
management’s assessment
of provision for obsolete and
slow moving inventories.

Inventories are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable
value. As a result, management
applies judgment in determining
the appropriate provision for
obsolete and slow moving
inventory items and estimating
the net realisable value.

5

Our audit procedures included:

e Testing the effectiveness of key controls

operating over inventories; including
observing the process of year end
inventory count by management.

Verifying for a sample of inventory items
that related costs have been appropriately
recorded.

Testing on a sample basis the net
realisable value by comparing the cost of
inventories recorded in the books to the
recent selling prices and assessing the
reasonableness of any resultant write
down of inventory items.

Assessing the reasonableness of the
provision for obsolete and slow-moving
inventories by reviewing the age
profile/expected expiries of inventories and
evaluating management'’s basis of
determining the usability of inventories.

Assessing the reasonableness of
estimates used by management in
computing provision for slow-moving and
obsolete inventories by comparing these
with historical trends.

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited is a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms aftiliated with KPMG International

Caooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited {Dubai Branch) is registered and licensed under the laws of the United Arab Emirates



Key audit matters (continued)

Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.)
Independent Auditors’ Report
31 December 2018

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Expected credit losses on trade receivables

Refer to notes 3b, 14 and 29 of the consolidated financial statements

Expected credit losses on trade  Our audit procedures included:

receivables is a key audit matter
due to: °

e The size of the balance of
trade receivables (being
30% of the total assets of
the Group), which includes
overdue balances.

e |FRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (IFRS 9) was
adopted by the Group on 1 °
January 2018 and has
resulted in a change in the
accounting for impairment
from an incurred loss model
to a forward looking expected
credit loss ("ECL") model.

e |nherently judgemental nature
of determining ECL and this
being the first year of its
application.

Management applies judgment to
determine the appropriate
parameters for using as inputs in
the expected credit loss (ECL) o
model under IFRS 9.

6

Obtaining an understanding of the Group's
process for estimating ECL and assessing
the appropriateness of the ECL
methodology and the application of the
new accounting policy in respect of the
requirements of IFRS 9.

Identifying and testing of key controls over
the ECL model.

Assessment of the reasonableness of
management’s key assumptions and
judgments made in determining the ECL
allowance including the selection of ECL
model, segmentation of receivables and
data sources.

Testing of key inputs in the model, such as
those used to calculate the likelihood of
default and the subseqguent loss on default,
by comparing to historical data. We also
assessed the reasonableness of forward
looking factors used by the Group by
corroborating with publicly available
information.

Testing of the opening balance adjustment
as at 1 January 2018 due to application of
impairment requirements of IFRS 9.

KPMG Lower Gulf Lirmited is a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affilisted with KPMG International

Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited (Dubai Branch) is registered and licensed under the laws of the United Arab Emirates



Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.)
Independent Auditors’ Report
31 December 2018

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Expected credit losses on trade receivables (continued)

On adoption, the Group has
applied the requirement of IFRS
9 retrospectively, without
restating the comparatives. The
difference between previously
reported carrying amounts as of
31 December 2017 and revised
carrying amounts as of 1
January 2018, mainly arising
from impairment, has been
recognized in opening retained
earnings as at 1 January 2018.

7

¢ Inspection of arrangements and / or
correspondences with external parties to
assess the recoverability of significant
overdue outstanding receivables.

¢ Assessing the appropriateness of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

KPMG Lower Guif Limited is a member firm of the KPMG network of indspendent member firms affiliated with KPMG International
Caooperative {"KPMG (nternational”), a Swiss entity. All rights reservad
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.)
Independent Auditors’ Report
31 December 2018

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Valuation of investments in unquoted equity securities classified as
investments at fair value through profit or loss

Refer to notes 3b and 12 of the consolidated financial statements

Valuation of investments at fair
value through profit or loss is a

key audit matter due to: o

¢ The higher sensitivity of the
valuation results on profit or
loss for the year.

e The use of complex valuation
technique and lack of

availability of market- °

observable data.

e The level of judgment
required in evaluating
management’s assessment

of the valuation. °

Significant management
judgement is involved in

selecting the appropriate °

valuation methodology and inputs
used in the valuation model. The
valuation model is subject to
estimation uncertainty.

On adoption, the Group has
applied the requirements of IFRS
9 retrospectively, without
restating comparatives and has
classified investments as carried
at fair value through profit or loss.

8

Our audit procedures included:

Involving our valuation specialists to
assess the reasonableness of the valuation
of investments performed by an expert
appointed by management, including
challenging the valuation methodology
used.

Corroborating the inputs used in the
valuation by an analysis of the historical
performance of the underlying investee
entity.

Assessing independence, objectivity, skills
and experience of the expert used by
management in determining the valuation.

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements.

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited is a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms atfiliated with KPMG International

Cooperative {“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited (Dubai Branch) is registered and licensed under the laws of the United Arab Emirates.



Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.)
Independent Auditors’ Report
31 December 2018

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to note 11 of the consolidated financial statements

Valuation of investment
properties is a key audit matter
due to:

e The higher sensitivity of the
valuation results on profit or
loss for the year.

e The use of complex valuation
techniques and lack of
availability of market-
observable data.

e The level of judgment
required by us in evaluating
management’s assessment
of the valuation.

Significant management
judgement involved in selecting
appropriate valuation
methodology and inputs used in
the valuation model and the
presence of estimation
uncertainty.

9

Our audit procedures included:

¢ Involving our valuation specialists to
assess the reasonableness of the valuation
of investment properties performed by an
expert appointed by management.

Comparing the inputs against independent
sources and externally available market
data to evaluate compliance with IFRS 13.

e Corroborating the inputs used in the
valuation by inspection of underlying
supporting evidences e.g. lease
agreements.

e Assessing independence, objectivity, skills
and experience of the expert used by
management in determining the valuation.

e Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements.

KPMG Lower Gulf Lirited is a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms atfiliated with KPMG International
Caooperative {“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. Al rights reserved
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.)
Independent Auditors’ Report
31 December 2018

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. We obtained
the Directors’ report prior to the date of our auditors’ report, and we expect to
obtain the remaining sections of the Annual Report after the date of the auditors’
report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we
obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those
charged with governance and take appropriate actions in accordance with ISAs.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS and their preparation in
compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of
2015, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.)
Independent Auditors’ Report
31 December 2018

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of management'’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.)
Independent Auditors’ Report
31 December 2018

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:

i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered
necessary for the purposes of our audit;

i)  the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all
material respects, with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law
No. (2) of 2015;

i) the Group has maintained proper books of account,

iv)  the financial information included in the Directors’ report, in so far as it
relates to these consolidated financial statements, is consistent with the
books of account of the Group;

v)  as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
has not purchased any shares during the year ended 31 December 2018;
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.)
Independent Auditors’ Report

31 December 2018

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued)

vi)  note 22 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related
party transactions and the terms under which they were conducted; and

vii)  based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has
come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Group has
contravened during the financial year ended 31 December 2018 any of the
applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No.{2) of 2015 or in respect of
the Company, its Articles of Association, which would materially affect its
activities or its consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2018.

KPMG Lower

Fawzi AbuRass
Registration No.: 968
Dubai, United Arab Emirates

Bate: 10 uar 210
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Note 2018 *2017
AED 000 AED 000
Revenue 342,108 355,408
Cost of sales 6 (244,919) (232,598)
Gross profit - 97,189 EZélb
Administrative, selling and distribution expense 7 (113,984) (111,086)
Impairment loss on trade receivables 29 (12,090) (1,951)
Operating (loss)/profit for the period -(-2“8-,;;5-)- ““9-,-7“7-?;
Finance costs 8 (9,090) (6,451)
Impairment of assets held for sale 23 - (5,294)
Gain on sale of available for sale investments 12 - 44
Gain on fair valuation of investment properties 11 10,934 -
Gain on fair valuation of investments 12 3,413 -
Other income 9 3,651 4212
(Loss)/profit for the year before tax (1"9-,“9-;7-)- -2-,-2-;3-4
Tax (expense)/income (415) 72
(Loss)/profit for the year (-2—;)_,;;2-)- ;:é;é
(Loss)/profit attributable to: _—_ o
Owners of the Company (20,392 2,356
Earnings per share - o
(Loss)/earnings per share — basic and diluted (AED) 27 (0.630) 0.073

* The Group has initially applied IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition method
chosen, comparative information is not restated. Refer to note 3.

The notes set out on pages 20 to 59 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 4 to 13.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Jfor the year ended 31 December 2018

Note 2018 *2017
AED 000 AED 000

(Loss)/profit for the year (20,392) 2,356

Other comprehensive income for the year:

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Revaluation of a building 10(b) 6,188 -
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to

profit or loss

Available-for-sale investments — net change in fair value 12 - (14

Transfer of reserve on available for sale investments sold

during the year to profit or loss 12 - (44)
. 8)

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year _6-,-1;5 -6?5-2;)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (11:2;4;) -2,-2-9;

Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:
Owners of the Company (14,204) 2,298

* The Group has initially applied IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition method
chosen, comparative information is not restated. Refer to note 3.

The notes set out on pages 20 to 59 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 4 to 13.

15



Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Consolidated statement of financial position

as at 31 December 2018
2018 *2017
Note AED 000 AED 000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 35,590 41,322
Investment properties 11 30,600 -
Available-for-sale investments 12 - 5,595
66,190 46,917
Current assets
Inventories 13 34,170 63,748
Trade and other receivables 14 64,716 88,031
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 12 17,300 -
Due from a related party 22 198 184
Cash in hand and at bank 15 16,673 12,472
133,057 164,435
Total assets 199,247 211,352
Equity
Share capital 16 32,368 32,368
Legal reserve 17 2,366 2,366
Restricted reserve 17 792 792
Revaluation surplus 17 6,188 -
(Accumulated loss)/retained earnings 17 (19,644) 1,659
Fair value reserve - 1)
22,070 37,184
Non-current liabilities
Provision for staff terminal benefits 18 7,527 7,408
Current liabilities
Short-term bank borrowings 19 118,176 113,170
Trade and other payables 20 49,196 53,090
Due to related parties 22 1,576 213
Provision for income tax 21 702 287
169,650 166,760
Total liabilities 177,177 174,168
Total equity and liabilities 199,247 211,352

* The Group has initially applied IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition method
chosen, comparative information is not restated. Refer to note 3.

—

s, 98

[

'I7ﬁconsoiidated ﬁnang:ial statements were authorized for issue on behalf of the Board of Directors on | [} MAR 701

Director— Director e Y
The notes set out on pages 20 to 59 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 4 to 13.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Consolidated statement of cash flows
Jor the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 *2017
Note AED 000 AED 000
Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss)/profit for the year (20,392) 2,356
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 10 5,100 4,610
Impairment loss on assets held for sale 23 - 5,294
Interest expense 8 9,090 6,451
Dividend income 9 (329) (526)
Provision for impairment of trade receivables 29 12,090 1,951
Provision for staff terminal benefits 18 1,198 1,583
Gain on fair valuation of investments 12 3,413) -
Gain on fair valuation of investment properties 1 (10,934) -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (net) 9 (103) 6)
Gain on sale of available for sale investments 12 - (44)
Tax expense/(income) 21 415 (72)
(7,278) 21,597
Changes in:
e Inventories 13 29,578 (18,351)
e trade and other receivables 14 3,627 (46,382)
e  due from related parties 22 (14) 131
e trade and other payables 20 (3,947) 21,569
e due to related parties 22 1,363 (1,752)
Staff terminal benefits paid 18 (1,079) (499)
Income taxes paid 21 - (240)
Directors’ fee paid 17 (147) 951)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 22,103 (24,878)
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 165 175
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale - 5,225
Proceeds from sale of available for sale investments 12 - 294
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 10 (5,742) (13,624)
Costs of construction of an investment property 11 (7,166) -
Dividend received 9 329 526
Net cash used in investing activities (12,414) (7,404)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net movement in bank borrowings 19 (4,318) 41,984
Dividend paid 17 (1,457) (3,025)
Interest paid (9,037) (5,821)
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (14,812) 33,138
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (5,123) 856
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 6,213 5,357
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,090 6,213
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash in hand and at bank 15 16,673 12,472
Bank overdraft 19 (15,583) (6,259)
1,090 6,213

* The Group has initially applied IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition method chosen, comparative information
is not restated. Refer to note 3.

The notes set out on pages 20 to 59 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 4 to 13.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Reporting entity

Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) (“the Company™) is a Public Shareholding Company incorporated on 11 April
1977 by a Decree from His Highness, The Ruler of Dubai. The Company’s equity securities are listed
on Dubai Financial Market. The Company holds 100% equity in Unikai and Company LLC (“the
Subsidiary”), registered as a limited liability company in the Sultanate of Oman under Commercial
Register No. 3/74. The Company and its subsidiary are collectively referred to as “the Group”. The
legal status of the Subsidiary is set out in note 26.

The Group is engaged in the manufacturing of dairy, juice and ice cream products and import of
various kinds of food products for distribution throughout the Gulf and other countries. The trading
activities of the Group are carried on in the name of “Unikai International” for which the Company
holds two separate trade licenses with the names “Unikai International P.J.S.C.” and “Unikai
International LLC”. The registered address of the Company is P.O. Box 6424, Dubai, UAE.

2. Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and comply with the relevant Articles of the Company and the UAE
Federal Law No. (2) of 2015.

This is the first set of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements in which IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments have been applied. Changes to
significant accounting policies are described in note 3.

Article 302 of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s accumulated losses exceed 50% of the share capital of the
Company. To comply with the requirements of article 302 of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015,
the Company’s directors have resolved in their meeting as at 10 March 2019 to recommend to the
general meeting of the shareholders of the Company to take a special decision to continue operations
of the Company.

Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been presented on the historical cost basis, except for
investment properties, available for sale investments and investments carried at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”), which are measured at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirate Dirham (“AED”), which
is the Company’s functional currency. All financial information presented in AED has been rounded
to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies

and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Notes (continued)
2. Basis of preparation (continued)
Use of estimates and judgments (continued)

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are
recognized prospectively.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recogmzed in the
consolidated financial statements are discussed in note 30.

Measurement of fair values

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values,
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The management have overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value measurements,
including Level 3 fair values. The management regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and
valuation adjustment. If third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, are used to
measure fair values, then management assesses the evidence obtained from the third parties to support
the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirement of IFRS, including the level in the fair value
hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far
as possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs
used in the valuation techniques as follows:

e Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

e Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

e Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

If inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability might be categorized in different levels
of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same
level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following
notes:

Note 11 — investment properties;

Note 12 — investments; and
Note 29 — financial instruments.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Notes (continued)

3.

3a

Changes in significant accounting policies

The Group has initially applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (refer note 3a) and
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (refer note 3b) from 1 January 2018.

Due to the transition methods chosen by the Group in applying these standards, comparative
information throughout these consolidated financial statements has not been restated to reflect the
requirements of the new standards, except for fair valuation of certain investments and separately
presenting impairment loss on trade receivables (refer note 3b).

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when
revenue is recognised. It replaced IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related
interpretations. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods or
services. Determining the timing of the transfer of control — at a point in time or over time — requires
judgement.

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method (without practical expedients),
with the effect of initially applying this standard recognised at the date of initial application (i.e. 1
January 2018). Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 has not been restated — i.e. it is
presented, as previously reported, under IAS 18 and related interpretations. Additionally, the disclosure
requirements in IFRS 15 have not generally been applied to comparative information.

Based on the management’s assessment, the application of IFRS 15 has no significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group as revenue recognition under the revised accounting
policy is similar to the revenue being recognized previously.

3b IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and
some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group has adopted consequential amendments to IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements, which require impairment of financial assets to be presented in
a separate line item in the consolidated income statement. Previously, the Group’s approach was to
include the impairment of trade receivables in administrative, selling and distribution expenses.
Consequently, the Group reclassified impairment losses amounting to AED 1.95 million, recognised
under IAS 39, from ‘administrative, selling and distribution expenses’ to ‘impairment loss on trade
receivables’ in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Additionally, the Group has adopted consequential amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:

Disclosures that are applied to disclosures about 2018 but have not been generally applied to
comparative information.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Notes (continued)
3. Changes in significant accounting policies (continued)
3b IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

The following table summarises the impact of transition to IFRS 9 on the opening balance of fair value
reserves and retained earnings as at 1 January 2018:

AED 000
Retained earnings and reserves
Recognition of expected credit losses under IFRS 9 (7,598)
Changes in fair value of investments 8,292
Impact at 1 January 2018 694

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL). The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model
in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. IFRS 9 eliminates
the previous IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale.

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities. The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Group’s accounting
policies related to financial liabilities.

For an explanation of how the Group classifies and measures financial instruments and accounts for

related gains and losses under IFRS 9, refer note 4: Significant accounting policies — Financial
instruments.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Notes (continued)

3. Changes in significant accounting policies (continued)

3b IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

The following table and the accompanying notes below explain the original measurement categories
under IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s financial

assets as at 1 January 2018.

The effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the carrying amounts of financial assets as at 1 January 2018 relates
to the new impairment requirements and the remeasurement of investments in equity securities.

Original
classification New
under IAS classification
In AED 000 Note 39 under IFRS 9
Financial assets
Available for
Equity securities a sale FVTPL
Trade and other receivables
(excluding advances and Loans and Amortised
prepayments) b receivables cost
Loans and Amortised
Cash in hand and at banks b receivables cost
Loans and Amortised
Due from related parties b receivables cost
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Other Other
financial financial
Bank borrowings liabilities liabilities
Other Other
financial financial
Trade and other payables liabilities liabilities
Other Other
financial financial
Due to related parties liabilities liabilities

Total financial liabilities
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Original New
carrying carrying
value under value under
IAS 39 IFRS 9
5,595 13,887
80,959 73,361
7,314 7,314
184 184
94,052 94,746
113,170 113,170
52,443 52,443
213 213
165,826 165,826




Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Notes (continued)

3.

3b

ii.

Changes in significant accounting policies (continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Under IAS 39, these equity securities were designated as available for sale because these were held
for long term strategic purposes. On transition to IFRS 9, the Group has reclassified these equity
investments from available for sale under IAS 39 to investments carried at FVTPL under IFRS 9.
Fair valuation gain amounting to AED 8.3 million related to those investments has been recorded
in retained earnings as at the date of the transfer i.e. 1 January 2018. The fair value of these
investments was measured by an external expert engaged by management and was based on the
capitalization of future maintainable earnings method of valuation.

Previously these investments were carried at cost. As a result a fair value gain of AED 8.3 million
was recorded in retained earnings.

Trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and due from related parties that were
classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39 are now classified at amortised cost. An increase
of AED 7.6 million in the allowance for impairment over trade receivables was recognized in
opening retained earnings at 1 January 2018 on transition to IFRS 9. Also, refer to note 14.

Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. The
new impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost but not to investments in
equity instruments. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39.

For assets in the scope of the IFRS 9 impairment model, impairment losses are generally expected to
increase and become more volatile. The Group has determined that the application of IFRS 9’s
impairment requirements at 1 January 2018 results in an additional impairment allowance as follows:

AED 000
Loss allowance at 31 December 2017 Under IAS 39 8,746
Additional impairment recognised at 1 January 2018 on trade
receivables 7,598
Loss allowance at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9 16,344

The ECLs were calculated based on actual credit loss experience over the recent years.
Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively,
except as described below.

— The Group has used an exemption not to restate comparative information for prior periods with
respect to classification and measurement (including impairment) requirements. Therefore,
comparative periods have not been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in retained earnings
and reserves as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 does not
generally reflect the requirements of IFRS 9, but rather those of IAS 39.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Notes (continued)

3. Changes in significant accounting policies (continued)
3b IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Transition (continued)

—  The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed
at the date of initial application.

- The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held.
- The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets as measured
at FVTPL.

4. Significant accounting policies

The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements, except if mentioned otherwise (refer also note 3).

Certain comparative amounts in the consolidated income statement have been re-presented, as a result
of changes in accounting policies (refer note 3).

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements comprise the consolidated financial position and the
consolidated results of operations of the Group and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as “the
Group”) on a line by line basis.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated financial statements from the date that on which control commences until the date on
which control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Material intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from
intra-group transactions, are eliminated in full in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Notes (continued)

4. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue

Revenue recognition under IFRS 15 — Policy applicable from I January 2018

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group
recognises revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer. For contracts that
permit the customer to return an item, revenue is recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that
a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. Therefore, the
amount of revenue recognised is adjusted for expected returns, which are estimated based on the
historical data. In these circumstances, a refund liability and a right to recover returned goods asset are
recognised.

The right to recover returned goods asset is measured at the former carrying amount of the inventory
less any expected costs to recover goods. The Group reviews its estimate of expected returns at each
reporting date and updates the amounts of the asset and liability accordingly.

Revenue recognition under IAS 18 — Policy applicable before 1 January 2018

Revenue was recognized when significant risks and rewards of ownership had been transferred to the
customer, recovery of the consideration was probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods
could be estimated reliably, there was no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the
amount of revenue could be measured reliably. Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary
activities was measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade
discounts and volume rebates. If it was probable that discounts would be granted and the amount could
be measured reliably, then the discount was recognized as a reduction of revenue as the sales were
recognized.

Dividend income
Dividend income is accounted when the Group’s right to receive dividend is established.
Rental income

Rental income on operating lease is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognized as an integral part of the total rental income, over
the term of the lease.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the following:

* the cost of materials and direct labour;

* any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended
use; and

* capitalised borrowing costs.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. Any gains
or losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Notes (continued)

4. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their
estimated residual value using straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the leased term and their
useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the leased
term.

The estimated useful lives for current and comparative years of significant items of property, plant
and equipment are as follows:

Years
Buildings 30
Plant and equipment 10-20
Transportation and distribution equipment 3-6
Furniture, fixture and office equipment 7

Land is not depreciated.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate. Any change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate by changing the
depreciation charge for the current and future periods.

Any gain or loss on disposal of a property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

Capital work in progress

Capital work in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses and not depreciated until such
time the assets are ready for intended use and transferred to the respective category under property,
plant and equipment.

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to eam rental income or for capital appreciation or for both,
but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. Investment property is initially measured at cost and subsequently at
fair value with any change therein recognised in profit or loss.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property.
The cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any
other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their
intended use and capitalised borrowing costs.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net
proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Notes (continued)

4. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties (continued)

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is
reclassified as investment property and carried at fair value, subsequently. On the day of the transfer,
any resulting fair valuation gain is carried as revaluation surplus under equity. Subsequent changes in
the fair value are recorded in profit or loss. The revaluation surplus is transferred to retained earnings
upon disposal/sale of the investment property.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, its
fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and
selling expenses. Cost is determined as follows:

Raw materials, packaging materials, trading stocks, consumable stocks and, spare parts

The cost includes insurance, freight and other incidental charges incurred in acquiring the inventories
and bringing them to their present location and condition. Cost is determined on a weighted average
basis.

Finished goods and semi-finished goods

The cost of finished goods is arrived at on a weighted average cost basis and includes cost of direct
materials and direct labour plus an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal
operating capacity. Semi-finished goods are stated at cost of the materials and directly attributable
overheads.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities that are expected to be recovered
primarily through sale rather than through continuing use are classified as held for sale. Immediately
before classification as held for sale, the assets, or components of a disposal group, are measured in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter generally the assets, or disposal group, are
measured at lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any impairment loss on a
disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata
basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories and financial assets which continue to be measured
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held
for sale and subsequent gains or losses on re-measurement are recognized in the profit or loss. Gains
are not recognized in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment once classified as held for sale or distribution are
not amortized or depreciated.
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Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Notes (continued)

4. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments
Recognition and initial measurement

Investments, trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are
originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets — Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; FVOCI — debt
investment; FVOCI — equity investment; or FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes
its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not

designated as at FVTPL:

_ it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

— its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets — Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest: Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on
initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit
risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other
basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows
such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group considers:

—  contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

— terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;

— prepayment and extension features; and

—  terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features).
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets — Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal
and interest: Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the
prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of
the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a discount or premium to its contractual
par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents
the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include
reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion
if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition.

Financial assets — Subsequent measurement and gains and losses: Policy applicable from I January
2018

Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including
any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets — Subsequent measurement and gains and losses: Policy applicable before 1
January 2018

Available for sale investments were initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they were measured at fair value and changes
therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on debt instruments, were
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the [air value reserves. When these
assets were derecognized, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Loans and receivables were measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Financial liabilities — Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit
or loss.

Derecognition
Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.
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Derecognition (continued)

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial
liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Impairment
Non-derivative financial assets — Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
Financial instruments and contract assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured
at amortised cost.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for bank balances
and other debt securities for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life
of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more
than 270 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

—  the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full; or
— the financial asset is more than 270 days past due.
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Impairment (continued)
Financial instruments and contract assets

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are
credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

— significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

— abreach of contract such as a default or being more than 270 days past due;

— the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;

— it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonablc
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. For its customers, the
Group individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on
whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Group expects no significant recovery
from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
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Impairment (continued)
Non-derivative financial assets — Policy applicable before 1 January 2018

Financial assets not classified as at FVTPL were assessed at each reporting date to determine whether
there was objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence that financial assets were impaired included default or delinquency by a debtor,
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise,
indications that a debtor or issuer would enter bankruptcy or economic conditions that correlated with
defaults.

The Group considered evidence of impairment for these assets at both an individual asset and a
collective level. All individually significant assets were individually assessed for impairment. Those
found not to be impaired were then collectively assessed for any impairment that had been incurred
but not yet individually identified. Assets that were not individually significant were collectively
assessed for impairment. Collective assessment was carried out by grouping together assets with
similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group used historical information on the timing of recoveries
and the amount of loss incurred, and made an adjustment if current economic and credit conditions
were such that the actual losses were likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss was calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest
rate. Losses were recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account. When the Group
considered that there were no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts were
written off. If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreased and the decrease was related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, then the previously recognised
impairment loss was reversed through profit or loss.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets were recognized by reclassifying the losses
accumulated in the fair value reserve to profit or loss. The amount reclassified was the difference
between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortization) and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss recognized previously in profit or loss. If the fair value of an impaired
available-for-sale debt security had increased and the increase could be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, then the impairment loss was reversed through
profit or loss; otherwise, it was reversed through other comprehensive income.

Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets, other than
inventories, to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists,
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generate

cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets or
Cash Generating Units (CGUs).
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Impairment (continued)
Non-financial assets (continued)

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its
fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to
their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or cash generated unit exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. An impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognized.

Staff terminal benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit
that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior years. That benefit is
discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognized in profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows at a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability.

Leases
Operating lease

Leases of assets under which the lessor effectively retains all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as operating leases.

Payments made/receipts under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss ona straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received/allowed are recognized in profit or loss as an
integral part of the total lease payments made/receipts obtained.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic eamings per share is
calculated by dividing profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held (if any).

Government grants

Government grants are recognized at nominal value when there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant.
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Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities
at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to functional currency at the exchange rate at
that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortized
cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and
payments during the year, and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate
at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value
are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured based on historical cost are
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are generally recognized in profit or loss on a net
basis as either finance income or finance cost.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated to AED at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and
expenses of foreign operations are translated to AED at the average exchange rates for current year.
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in other comprehensive income
and presented in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

Finance expenses

Finance expenses represent interest on bank borrowings charged at normal commercial rates. Interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

— the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
—  the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts
to the gross basis.

Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax calculated in
accordance with the income tax laws applicable to the overseas subsidiary of the Group. Income tax
is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in
comprehensive income or in equity.
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Taxation (continued)

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantially enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The
amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the
reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent it is probable that the future taxable profits will
be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence,
the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability
reflects its non-performance risk.

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values,
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in
an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or
liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an
ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximize
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen
valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in
pricing a transaction.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group
measures assets at a bid price and liabilities at an ask price.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the
transaction price — i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines
that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is
evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on
a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation to
the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer
the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently,
that difference is recognized in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument
but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction
is closed out.
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New standards and interpretations not yet effective

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2018 and earlier
application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards in
preparing these consolidated financial statements. Of those standards that are not yet effective, IFRS
16 is expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the
period of initial application.

IFRS 16 Leases

The Group is required to adopt IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019. The Group has assessed the
estimated impact that initial application of IFRS 16 will have on its consolidated financial statements,
as described below. The actual impacts of adopting the standard on 1 January 2019 may change
because:

— the Group has not finalised the testing and assessment of controls over its IT systems; and
— the new accounting policies are subject to change until the Group presents its first financial
statements that include the date of initial application.

IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises
a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing
its obligation to make lease payments. There are recognition exemptions for short-term leases and
leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current standard — i.e. lessors
continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases.

IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance, including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

i. Leases in which the Group is a lessee

The Group will recognise new assets and liabilities for its operating leases of distribution vehicles,
warehouses and office premises (refer note 25). The nature of expenses related to those leases will
now change because the Group will recognise a depreciation charge for right-of-use assets and
interest expense on lease liabilities.

Previously, the Group recognised operating lease expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease, and recognised assets and liabilities only to the extent that there was a timing difference
between actual lease payments and the expense recognised.

Based on the information currently available, the Group estimates that it will recognise additional
lease liabilities for an amount ranging from AED 38 million to AED 43 million as at 1 January 2019.
Management assumes that the leases of land would be renewed on an on-going basis during the useful
lives of assets constructed or developed on the respective land. Also refer to note 10(d).

ii. Transition

The Group plans to apply IFRS 16 initially on 1 January 2019, using the modified retrospective
approach. Therefore, the cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 will be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2019, with no restatement of comparative
information.

The Group plans to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the definition of a lease on transition.
This means that it will apply IFRS 16 to all contracts entered into before 1 January 2019 and identified
as leases in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.
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5. Financial risk management
Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

e Credit nisk
e Liquidity risk
e Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of
capital.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s
risk management framework. The Group’s risk management framework is a combination of formally
documented policies in certain areas and informal approach to risk management in others. The Group’s
senior management is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s approach to risk
management. The Group’s senior management reports to the Board of Directors on its activities.

The Group’s approach to risk management is established to identify and analyse the risk faced by the
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and principally from the Group’s receivables from
customers and cash with banks.

Trade receivables (including related party receivables)

Credit risk is managed by assessing the creditworthiness of potential customers and the potential for
exposure to the market in which they operate, combined with regular monitoring and follow-up. As
part of the Group's credit risk management, where it is considered necessary, such receivables are
covered by post dated cheques.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. However, management also considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its
customer base, including the default risk associated with the industry and country in which customers
operate. The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to customers by setting credit limits for
individual customers and monitoring of outstanding receivables. Customers that fail to meet the
Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group only on a prepayment basis.

The Group allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on data that is determined to be
predictive of the risk of loss (including but not limited to external ratings, audited financial statements,
management accounts and cash flow projections and available press information about customers) and
applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and
quantitative factors that are indicative of the risk of default.

Exposures within each credit risk grade are segmented by nature of customers’ operations and an ECL
rate is calculated for each segment based on delinquency status and actual credit loss experience over
the past three years. These rates are multiplied by scalar factors to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over which the historical data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
Scalar factors are based on GDP forecast and industry outlook.
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Credit risk (continued)
Cash at banks

Cash held in bank accounts amounts to AED 16.1 million at 31 December 2018 (2017: AED 12.2
million). Cash is held with banks, which are rated A1 to Baa3, based on Moody’s Corporation ratings.
Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on a 12-month expected loss basis and
reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that cash balances with banks has
a low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties and accordingly, the expected
credit loss is negligible.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset, or that such
obligations will have to be settled in a manner disadvantageous to the Group.

Liquidity risk mainly relates to trade and other payables and bank borrowings. Management
continuously monitors its cash flows to determine its cash requirements and makes comparison with
its funded and un-funded facilities with banks in order to manage exposure to liquidity risk.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s current liabilities exceed its current assets by AED 36.6 million
(2017: AED 2.3 million). The Group management is of the view that the favourable factors noted
below are adequate to resolve the current liquidity problems and the Group will have sufficient funds
available to meet its obligation when the payment will be required.

e The Group management has prepared a four years business plan which shows positive cash flows
from operations resulting from ongoing management efforts to optimize costs, increase in selling
prices of products and launching of new products.

e The Group management is currently negotiating with its lender banks, a restructuring plan related
to its bank borrowings which will result in (i) conversion of certain short term borrowings into
long term; (ii) limiting the exposure to only few banks through buyout of certain existing bank
loans by the other banks whom the Group will continue business in future; (iii) increase in the
credit limits by conversion of unused facility lines into those which are used most often; and (iv)
the deferment of the repayment of existing overdue loans. Management believes that ongoing
negotiations for the restructuring plan is currently at an advanced stage and will be formally signed
off shortly. :

e Net current liabilities as at 31 December 2018 include a long term portion of the bank borrowings
amounting to AED 5 million which has been classified as short term because of breach of certain
financial covenants. Based on the relationship with the creditor banks, the Group management
believes that the repayment will occur as per the payment schedules agreed with the lender banks.
Also refer to note 19.

Market risks

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates
will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimizing the return.
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Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are
denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of the Group entities,
primarily United State Dollar (“USD”) and Euro. The Group does not face any foreign currency risk
on transactions denominated in USD as AED is currently pegged to USD.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Financial assets and liabilities that are subject to fair value interest risk are the
ones with fixed interest rate. Financial assets and liabilities that are subject to cash flow interest rate
risk are the ones with floating interest rate.

Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Capital consists of share capital, reserves
and retained earnings. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital as well as level of
dividend to ordinary shareholders. The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns
that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded bya
sound capital position. As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s accumulated losses exceed 50% of the
share capital of the Company. Also refer to note 2, which explains that the Company’s directors are
required to convene a general meeting of the shareholders of the Company under Article 302 of the
UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015.

6. Cost of sales

2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Manufacturing:
Raw material, packing materials and stores and spares consumed 163,345 160,936
Staff costs 11,500 10,979
Utilities . 11,021 11,679
Depreciation (refer to note 10(a)) 2,129 2,071
Other direct costs 5,002 6,385
192,997 192,050
Changes in inventories of semi-finished and finished goods 277 2,332
(A) 193,274 194,382
Trading:
Inventories, beginning of the year 11,579 7,559
Purchases (including direct expenses) 45,232 42,236
Inventories, end of the year (refer to note 13) (5,166) (11,579
B) 51,645 38,216
(A) + (B) 244,919 232,598
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7. Administrative, selling and distribution expenses

2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Staff costs 55,340 51,380
Advertisement and other selling expenses 747 3,639
Depreciation (refer to note 10(a)) 2,971 2,539
Commercial vehicle expenses 30,913 24,172
Utilities 1,835 823
Other expenses 22,178 28,533
113,984 111,086
8. Finance costs
2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Interest on bank borrowings 9,090 6,451
9. Other income
2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Rental income (refer to note below) 2,520 2,400
Gain on disposal of property plant and equipment 103 6
Dividend income 329 526
Sale of scrap 591 404
Net exchange gains 73 30
Miscellaneous income 35 846
3,651 4212

Rental income is earned from lease of investment properties to third parties.
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10. Property, plant and equipment

Transportation Furniture,
and fixture and

Plant
Land and and
buildings equipment
AED 000 AED 000
Cost
At 1 January 2017 47,015 59,765
Additions 163 5,452
Transfer from capital advances - -
Disposals - (756)
Transfer from capital work in
progress - 507
Transfer from assets held for sale
(refer to note 16) - 6,534
At 31 December 2017 47,178 71,502
At 1 January 2018 47,178 71,502
Additions 192 2,500
Disposals ¢)) (849)
Transfer from capital work in
progress 50 1,924
Transfer to investment properties
(refer notes 10(b) and 11) (9,435) -
At 31 December 2018 37,977 75,077
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2017 35,759 50,208
Charge for the year 534 2,107
On disposals - (639)
Transfer from assets held for sale
(refer to note 16) - 6,534
At 31 December 2017 36,293 58,210
At 1 January 2018 36,293 58,210
Charge for the year 388 2,189
On disposals (8) (795)
Transfer to investment properties
(refer notes 10(b) and 11) (3,123) -
At 31 December 2018 33,550 59,604
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 4,427 15,473
At 31 December 2017 10,885 13,292

(a) Depreciation has been allocated as follows:

Cost of sales (refer to note 6)

Administrative, selling and distribution expenses (refer to note 7)
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distribution office
equipment equipment
AED 000 AED 000
17,799 6,874
5,908 1,758
(2,480) 8
95 -
21,322 8,624
21,322 8,624
1,159 585
(1,030) (76)
79 91
21,530 9,224
14,609 6,242
1,167 802
(2,430) (6)
13,346 7,038
13,346 7,038
1,727 796
(1,022) (76)
14,051 7,758
7,479 1,466
7,976 1,586
2018
AED 000
2,129
2,971
5,100

Capital
work-in-

progress Total
AED 000 AE000
2,025 133,478
343 13,624
4,267 4,267

- (3,244)
(602) -
1,550 8,084
7,583 156,209
7,583 156,209
1,306 5,742

- (1,963)
(2,144) -

- (9,435)
6,745 150,553

- 106,818

- 4,610

- (3,075)

- 6,534

- 114,887

- 114,887

- 5,100

- (1,901)

- (3,123)

- 114,963

6,745 35,590
7,583 41,322
2017
AED 000
2,071
2,539
4,610
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Notes (continued)

10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

11.

b) During the current year, the Group has reclassified a labor accommodation building from property,

f)

plant and equipment to investment properties as a result of change in the use of the property. The
property has been let to a third party. As at the date of transfer, the fair value of the property was
measured and the resulting gain of AED 6.2 million was recognised in other comprehensive income.
This has been presented as the revaluation surplus under equity in the consolidated statement of
financial position. :

The Government of Dubai has granted land to the Group for setting up manufacturing facilities that
has been recorded at a nominal value.

Buildings include certain buildings constructed on land leased to the Group. The lease is renewable
every year and management believes that the lease would be available to the Group on an on-going
basis in the foreseeable future.

Capital work in progress represents costs incurred towards construction of warehouses and cooling
system for the plant.

Plant and equipment are mortgaged against bank facilities (refer to note 19).

Investment properties

Investment properties comprise a labour accommodation and a warchouse that are leased to third parties
under operating leases.

i.

Reconciliation of carrying amount

Labour

Warehouse accomodation Total

AED 000 AED 000 AED 000

Balance as at 1 January 2018 - - -

Cost of development/construction 7,166 - 7,166
Reclassification from property, plant and equipment

(refer note 10 (b)) - 6,312 6,312

Net change in fair value

- recognised in other comprehensive income (refer

note 10 (b)) - 6,188 6,188

- recognised in profit or loss 4,234 6,700 10,934

Balance as at 31 December 2018 11,400 19,200 30,600

ii.

Measurement of fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of investment properties was determined by an external, independent property valuer as
at 31 December 2018, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience
in the location and category of property being valued. Related lease terms range from one year to five
years renewable at mutually agreed terms.

The fair value measurement for both of the investment properties has been categorised as a Level 3 fair
value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.
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Notes (continued)

11. Investment properties (continued)

12.

ii. Measurement of fair value (continued)
Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs

Labour accommodation

Income capitalization approach was used to determine the fair value of labour accommodation. This
valuation model considers the present value of net cash flows to be generated from the property, taking
into account the expected rental growth rate, void periods, occupancy rate and expected maintenance
costs. The expected net cash flows are discounted using a risk adjusted discount rate. Among other
factors, the discount rate estimation considers the quality of a building and its location, tenant credit
quality and lease term.

Significant unobservable inputs used in the income capitalization technique include:

— Expected market rental growth - Nil

— Void periods — 12% of market rent

— Expected maintenance costs 20% of market rent

— Risk-adjusted discount rates 12% for the first year and 13% for the remaining period

Warehouse building

The fair value of the warehouse building was determined using market comparison approach. This
valuation model estimates the fair value by looking at comparables, such as recent property sales, similar
in size and features, located in close proximity to the property being valued.

The estimated fair value would increase/decrease as a result of changes to the unobservable inputs
discussed above.

Investments
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Opening balance 5,595 5,903

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 recorded in equity
Change in fair value (refer to note 3(b)) 8,292 -

Included in profit or loss
Change in fair value 3,413 -

Included in other comprehensive income

Change in fair value - (14)
Sale during the period* 2 (294)
Closing balance 17,300 5,595

*  During the previous year, investments having a fair value of AED 0.3 million were sold and the
related fair value reserve of AED 0.04 million was transferred to profit or loss.
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12. Investments (continued)

Disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Available for sale investments — Non current - 5,595
Investments at fair value through profit or loss —
current (refer to note 3(b)) 17,300

Measurement of fair values

Investments as at the reporting date represent the Group’s investment in unquoted equity security of a
group operating in dairy and poultry industry. The fair value of the investment was determined by an
external valuer, having appropriate professional qualifications and recent experience of such valuations.
The fair value of the investment was determined by capitalizing expected future maintainable earnings of
the investee using a market valuation multiple. Valuation multiple is based on market expectations after
considering conditions relevant during the time of valuation, including the economy in general and the
business and industry of the entity in particular. Management has used the latest available financial
information of the investee i.e. financial results upto June 2018, while computing future maintainable
earnings. Accordingly, the fair value of the investment as at 30 June 2018 is reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

Fair value hierarchy

When measuring the fair value of investments, in particular determining the valuation multiple, the Group
uses market observable data as far as possible. The fair value of investments at fair value through profit
or loss has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of
the inputs used in making the measurements:

Level 1: inputs that are quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for identical instruments.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e.,
as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted market prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments where the valuation
technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant
effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted
prices for similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to
reflect differences between the instruments.
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12. Investments (continued)

Measurement of fair values (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The table below analyses financial instruments, measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period,
by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000
31 December 2018
Investments at FVTPL 12 - 17,288 17,300
31 December 2017

Available-for-sale investments 18 - 5,577 5,595

During the current or the previous year, there were no transfers between the various levels of fair value
measurements.

13. Inventories

2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Raw materials and packing materials 15,259 29,371
Semi-finished goods 1,706 1,348
Finished goods 6,771 7,406
Trading stocks 5,166 11,579
Consumable stores and spare parts 6,556 6,717
35,458 56,421

Less: Provision for slow moving inventories (1,288) (2,008)
34,170 54,413
Goods-in-transit - 9,335
34,170 63,748

A reconciliation of the movements in the provision for slow moving inventories is as follows:

2018 2017

AED 000 AED 000

At 1 January 2,008 3,863
Provision recorded during the year (included as part of cost of sales) 737 215
Inventories written off (1,457) (2,070)
At 31 December 1,288 2,008

Inventories have been hypothecated with bank for security against bank borrowings (refer to note 19).
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Notes (continued)

14. Trade and other receivables

15.

16.

17.

2018 2017

AED 000 AED 000

Trade receivables 88,869 89,133
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables (28,434) (8,746)

60,435 80,387

Advances, deposits and prepayments 4,281 7,644

64,716 88,031

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit and market risks and impairment losses for trade
receivables is included in notes 5 and 29.

Trade receivables are assigned as security against bank borrowings (refer to note 19).

Cash in hand and at bank
2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Cash in hand 591 302
Cash at bank - current 6,001 2,089
Cash at bank - fixed deposits 10,081 10,081
16,673 12,472

Fixed deposits are having an original maturity of less than three months and carry interest at normal
commercial rates.

Share capital
2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Issued and fully paid up:
32.37 million ordinary shares of AED 1 each
(2017: 32.37 million ordinary shares of AED 1 each) 32,368 32,368
Retained earnings and reserves

Legal reserve

In accordance with the Articles of Association of entities within the Group and Article 103 of the UAE
Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, a minimum of 10% of the net profit of the individual entities, to which
law is applicable, is allocated every year to a non-distributable legal reserve. Such transfer may be
discontinued when the legal reserve equals 50% of the paid up share capital of the respective individual
entities. This reserve is non-distributable except in certain circumstances as mentioned in the above-
mentioned law. There is no transfer to legal reserve during the current year as the Group has incurred
net loss (2017: AED 0.9 million).

Dividend
At the Annual General Meeting held on 22 March 2018, the shareholders approved a 4.5% cash
dividend totaling to an amount of AED 1.5 million. The dividend was paid during the year.

At the Annual General Meeting held on 23 March 2017, the shareholders approved a 10% cash dividend

totaling to an amount of AED 3 million and the issuance of 7% bonus shares to 2,117,500 shares having
par value of AED 1.
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17.

18.

19.

Retained earnings and reserves (continued)

Directors’ fee

At the Annual General Meeting held on 22 March 2018, the shareholders approved the directors’ fee
amounting to AED 0.15 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. The director’s fee was paid
during the year.

At the Annual General Meeting held on 23 March 2017, the shareholders approved the directors’ fee
amounting to AED 0.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Restricted reserve

In accordance with the Law of the country where the subsidiary company is registered, during the current
year, no amount (2017: Nil) has been transferred to restricted reserve as the balance has already reached
one third of the share capital of the subsidiary. This reserve is non-distributable except in certain
circumstances as mentioned in the relevant law.

Revaluation surplus

The revaluation surplus included in equity is in respect of a labour accommodation building that was
revalued at the time of transfer of the property to investment properties. The amount of surplus is non-
distributable and is transferable to retained earnings upon disposal or otherwise derecognition of the
related property.

Provision for staff terminal benefits

2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Balance at 1 January 7,408 6,324
Provision made during the year 1,198 1,583
Payments made during the year (1,079) (499)
Balance at 31 December 7,527 7,408
Bank borrowings
2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Long term borrowings:
Term loans 5,018 17,465
Less: short term portion (refer note (ii) below) (5,018) (17,465)
Long term portion of term loans - -
Short term borrowings:
Trust receipts 56,340 89,446
Bank overdraft 15,583 6,259
Current portion of term loan 46,253 17,465
118,176 113,170

i) Bank borrowings are mainly secured by mortgages over plant and machinery, hypothecation of
inventories and assignment of receivables.
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19.

20.

21.

22.

Bank borrowings (continued)

1) Bank borrowings are also subject to certain financial covenants including minimum tangible
net worth of AED 27 million, current ratio of 1:1, leverage ratio not to exceed 3.5:1, debt to
EBITDA not to exceed 6:1 and debt to equity of 3.5. As at the reporting date, the Group has
not complied with the financial covenants as specified in the facility letters with the banks.
Accordingly, the long term portion of the loan amounting to AED 5.02 million has been
classified as short term at the reporting date because the loan balance becomes payable on
demand as per the terms of the loan agreement. However, based on the relationship with the
creditor banks, the Group’s Directors are of the view that the above mentioned non-compliance
is not likely to affect the continuation of the Group’s bank facilities and hence will not have a
significant impact on the operations. Also refer to note 5 — liquidity risk.

Trade and other payables

2018 2017

AED 000 AED 000

Trade payables 35,751 46,715

Accruals and other payables 13,125 5,470

Dividends payable - 258

Advances received from customers 320 647

49,196 53,090

Provision for income tax

2018 2017

AED 000 AED 000

At 1 January 287 599
Tax (income)/expense for the year 415 (72)
Payments during the year - (240)

At 31 December 702 287

The provision for tax is in respect of the Group’s operations in Oman. Income tax is recorded in
accordance with the income tax laws of the Sultanate of Oman. The income tax assessments for the
years from 2012 to 2018 have not been finalised by the respective authority. In the opinion of the
management the provision for AED 0.7 million (31 December 2017: AED 0.29 million) as at reporting
date is adequate to meet the Group’s tax liabilities.

Related party transactions and balances

The Group, in the normal course of business carries out transactions with other business enterprises that
fall within the definition of a related party contained in International Accounting Standard 24. Related
party transactions are entered at mutually agreed terms.

The significant transactions entered into by the Group with related parties other than those disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

2018 2017

AED 000 AED 000

Purchases 6,132 4,541
Sales 889 861
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22. Related party transactions and balances (continued)

23.

Compensation to key management personnel is as follows:

Short term benefits paid to an Executive Director
Short term benefits — other key management personnel
Provision towards staff terminal benefits

At the reporting date the balances with related parties were as below:

Due from a related party
- Abjar Group

Due to related parties

- Innovations Group

- United Foods PJISC

- United Cans Company LL.C

Other payables

- Key management personnel

Impairment of assets held for sale

Impairment loss on assets held for sales

2018
AED 000

1,200
2,451
479

2018
AED 000

2018
AED 000

2017
AED 000

900
1,482
33

2017
AED 000

184

2017
AED 000

2017
AED 000

5,294

Subsequent to the closure of the Group’s Sohar factory in Oman during 2015, factory assets, comprising
mainly the buildings and plant and equipment (“disposal group”) were classified as held for sale. Out
of the disposal group, certain assets were disposed off in 2017 and the remaining were put into use by
the Group. The Group recorded an impairment loss of AED 5.3 million in 2017 which included an
amount of AED 2.5 million related to a building disposed off in 2017 and an amount of AED 2.8 million

related to plant and machinery put into use in 2017.
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24. Contingent liabilities and commitments

25.

2018 2017

AED 000 AED 000

Bank guarantees 4,058 4,058
Letters of credit 7,041 3,945

Legal cases

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has some pending legal cases with respect to recovering of certain
trade receivable balances. All these cases are pending before the Court for hearings and final decision.
The management has reviewed the status of all of these legal cases and believes that no further provision
is required as at 31 December 2018.

Commitments

Capital commitments

2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Capital commitments 9,351 11,233

Capital commitments represent costs to be incurred towards construction of warehouses and cooling
system for the plant.

Operating leases
i. Leases as lessee

The Group leases land, retail shops, office premises, warehouses and distribution vehicles under
operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of one to twenty five years, with an option to
renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are renegotiated at the end of each lease term to reflect
market rentals. Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local
price indices. For certain operating leases, the Group is restricted from entering into any sub-lease
arrangements.

At 31 December, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are payable as
follows:

2018 2017

AED’000 AED’000

Less than one year 10,039 8,548
Between one and five years 8,217 11,454
More than five years 2,406 3,948
20,662 23,950
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25. Operating leases (continued)

26.

27.

28.

i. Leases as lessor

The Group has leased out a labour accommodation and a warehouse building classified as investment
properties (refer note 11).

Future minimum lease payments

At 31 December, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are receivable as
follows:

2018 2017

AED’000 AED’000

Less than one year 3,799 643
Between one and five years 3,000 -
6,799 643

Subsidiary

The Company holds beneficial shareholding interest in 100% of the shares of the Subsidiary, registered
as a limited liability Company in the Sultanate of Oman under the Oman Commercial Register Law
No. 3/74. Principal activity of the Subsidiary is trading in dairy, juice, ice cream and other food
products.

Earnings per share

2018 2017
Net (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company (AED 000) (20,392) 2,356
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (*000) 32,368 32,368
(Loss)/earnings per share — basic and diluted (in AED) (0.630) 0.073

Segment reporting

The Group operates in a single reporting segment of diary, juice, ice cream, and other food products.
All the relevant information relating to this reporting/operating segment is disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and notes to the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS also requires an entity to report its segment assets and revenue along geographical regions. All
significant activities of the Group are performed on an integrated basis in the Gulf region and the
Directors do not consider an analysis by individual country would be meaningful.

Additional information required by IFRS 8, “Segment reporting”, is disclosed below:

Major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no customers of the Group with the revenues
greater than 10% of the total revenue of the Group (2017: Nil).
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29.

a)

Financial instruments

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

2018 2017

AED 000 AED 000

Trade and other receivables 60,025 80,959
Cash in bank 16,082 12,170
Due from a related party 198 184
76,305 93,313

Trade and other receivables are stated net of the allowance for doubtful recoveries. At the reporting
date, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk from such receivables situated outside the UAE is

as follows:

2018 2017
AED 000 AED 000
Oman 6,930 16,373

Impairment losses
Expected credit loss assessment

Refer to note 5 for details about how and to what extent the Group is exposed to credit risk and how
management estimates credit losses. The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade
receivables. Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable
progressing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables as at 31 December 2018:

Weighted

average Gross Impairment Credit
In AED 000 loss rates 2018 2018 impaired
Current 8.9% 25,990 2,315 No
1-90 days past due 59% 16,422 974 No
91-180 days past due 26.9% 9,939 2,675 No
181-270 days past due 45.1% 9,326 4,206 No
271-360 days past due 55.0% 11,050 6,078 Yes
More than 360 days past due 66.2% 16,142 10,693 Yes

88,869 26,941

Add: impairment allowance for specific loss cases 1,493

Total expected credit loss as at 31 December 2018 28,434
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29. Financial instruments (continued)
a)  Credit risk (continued)

Impairment losses (continued)

Expected credit loss assessment (continued)

Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past three years. These rates are
multiplied by scalar factors to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over
which the historical data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. Scalar factors are based on actual and forecast

GDP of respective countries in which the Group operates.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as
follows. Comparative amounts for 2017 represent the allowance account for impairment losses under

IAS 39.
2018
AED 000
Balance as at 1 January under IAS 39 8,746
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 (refer note 3b) 7,598
Balance at 1 January under IFRS 9 16,344
Net measurement of loss allowance : 12,090
Balance as at 31 December 28,434

Comparative information under IAS 39

2017
AED 000

6,795

The age of trade receivables and respective allowance for doubtful recoveries at 31 December 2017 was:

2017

Gross

AED 000

0-30 days from invoice date 21,398
31-60 days from invoice date 19,102
61-90 days from invoice date 17,774
Over 90 days from invoice date 30,859
89,133
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Notes (continued)

29. Financial instruments (continued)

b) Liquidity risk

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments:

31 December 2018

Non-derivative financial
liabilities

Bank borrowings

Trade and other payables
Due to related parties

31 December 2017

Non-derivative financial
liabilities

Bank borrowings

Trade and other payables
Due to related parties

Carrying
amount
AED 000

Contractual
cash flows
AED 000

126,648

Contractual
cash flows
AED 000

118,915

Less than
1 year
AED 000

Between 1
to 2 years
AED 000

Between 1
to 2 years
AED 000

More than
2 years
AED 000

The Group does not have any derivative financial liabilities at the end of the current year or the previous

year.

Also refer to note 5 — liquidity risk, which explains that the Group currently faces certain liquidity
problems and how the management plans to manage the resulting risk.

¢) Market risk

Interest rate risk

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments was:

Fixed rate instrument
Cash in bank — fixed deposit

Variable rate instruments
Bank borrowings

56

Carrying amount

2018

AED 000

10,081

2017
AED 000

10,081

Carrying amount

2018

AED 000

118,176

2017
AED 000

113,170




Unikai Foods (P.J.S.C.) and its subsidiary

Notes (continued)

29. Financial instruments (continued)

c)

d)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed interest rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 100 basis points (“bp™) in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/
(decreased) profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables,
in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2017.

Profit or loss

100 bp 100 bp

increase decrease

AED 000 AED 000

31 December 2018 (1,182) 1,182
31 December 2017 (1,132) 1,132

Fair values

The Group’s management believes that fair values of its financial assets and liabilities are not materially
different from the carrying amounts at the reporting date.
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30.

Significant accounting estimates and judgments

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments
in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Estimating useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on the period over which
the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives are reviewed periodically
and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical
or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets. In addition, estimation
of the useful lives of property and equipment is based on collective assessment of industry practice,
internal technical evaluation and on the historical experience with similar assets. It is possible,
however, that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought
about by changes in factors mentioned above. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any
period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.

Provision for obsolete and slow moving inventory

The Group reviews its inventory to assess loss on account of obsolescence on a regular basis. In
determining whether provision for obsolescence should be recorded in profit or loss, the Group makes
judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is any future saleability of
the product and the net realisable value for such product. Accordingly, provision for impairment is
made where the net realisable value is less than cost based on best estimates by the management. The
provision for obsolescence of inventory is based on the past movement of the inventory.

Impairment losses on receivables

The Group recognises loss allowance for ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised cost. ECLs
are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses. ECL computation uses historical trends and a
forward looking element to compute percentage allowance to be recorded as impairment loss on trade
receivables. Should any of these input estimates vary, the profit or loss and financial position of the
following year(s) would be significantly impacted.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews its property, plant and equipment to assess impairment, if there is an indication
of impairment. In determining whether impairment losses should be recognized in profit or loss, the
Group makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a reduction
in the carrying value of property, plant and equipment. Accordingly, provision for impairment is
made where there is an identified loss event or condition which, based on previous experience, is
evidence of a reduction in the carrying value of property, plant and equipment.
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30.

31.

Significant accounting estimates and judgments

Valuation of investment in unquoted equity securities

Investments in unquoted equity securities are stated at fair value, determined by capitalizing expected
future maintainable earnings of the investee using a market valuation multiple. This method takes
into account latest available financial statements of the investee and management’s analysis of
changes in market prices of other listed securities adjusted for illiquid risk. The fair value of these
investments is categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on unobservable inputs to the valuation
technique used.

Valuation of investment properties

The Group fair values its investment properties. An external, independent valuation company having
the appropriate recognised professional qualification has valued the properties (refer note 11). Should
the significant assumption change, the fair value of investment properties would significantly impact
profit or loss and statement of financial position of the Group in the future.

Bank borrowings — appropriate classification and presentation/disclosures

The Group management reviews compliance with financial covenants as specified in the facility
letters with the banks, at each year end. In case of any breach long term loans become repayable on
demand as per the terms of agreements. Management ascertains the resulting impact of any breach
instances on the presentation and disclosures, and the appropriate classification of bank borrowings
in the consolidated financial statements. This involves an evaluation of the Group’s relationships with
the lender banks, the likelihood of the term loans being called for early repayment and the resulting
impact on the Group’s liquidity position. Any change in the key assumptions used may significantly
change the classification of bank borrowings between short term and long term and may also have an
impact on the Group’s liquidity position.

Other information

* Asat31 December 2018, the Group has no exposure to Abraaj Holdings, or any of its subsidiaries,
or any of its funds.

*  The Group has not purchased or invested in any shares during the current or the previous year.
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